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MEMORANDUM OPINION and ORDER

The abovestyledactionwas filed onMay 19, 2017 (Doc. 1). OnJune 20,
2017 the City of Birminghamthe Birmingham Police Departmentilliam A.
Bell, Sr., Herman Harris, and Paul Irw(collectively “defendantg’filed a Motion
to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion for More Definite Stateme(doc. D).
The motion ha been fully briefed, and the parties have consented to dispos
jurisdiction by a United StatellagistrateJudge in accordance with 28 U.S.C
8§ 636(cC).

STANDARD FOR ASSESSING A MOTION TO DISMISS

Defendantscontendthat the Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to

Rule12(b)®) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim on

which relief can be granted. Before the Supreme Court de@didtlantic v.
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Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007), a court could
dismiss a complaintrdy where it was clear that no relief could be granted under
any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations, as set forth in

Conley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 78 S. Ct. 99, 2 L. Ed. 2d 80 (1957). The-well

established Rule 12(b)(6) standard set forttCanley was expressly rejected in
Twombly when the Supreme Court examined the sufficiency of a plaintiff's

complaint and determined:

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires only “a short and
plain statement of the claim showinigat the pleader is entitled to
relief,” in order to “give the defendant fair notice of what the . . .
claim is and the grounds upon which it rest€6nley v. Gibson, 355

U.S. 41, 47,78 S. Ct. 99, 2 L. Ed. 2d 80 (1957). While a complaint
attacked by a &®e 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need detailed
factual allegations, a plaintiff’'s obligation to provide the “grounds” of
his “entitle[ment] to relief’ requests more than labels and conclusions,
and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cafisetion will not

do. Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above
the speculative level.

550 U.S. at 555 (citations omitted). The court went on to critiCaeey, stating

that “[t]he ‘no set of facts’ language has been quaestl, criticized, and explained
away long enough” by courts and commentators, and “is best forgotten as an
incomplete, negative gloss on an accepted pleading standard: once a claim has

been stated adequately, it may be supported by showing any set abfasitstent

with the allegations in the complaint. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 5653. The



Supreme Court emphasized, however, that “we do not require heightened fact
pleading of specifics, but only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.” 550 U.S. at 570.

The Supreme Court expanded on theombly standard when it decided

Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1@ 173 L. Ed. 2d 868

(2009), reiterating theTwombly determination that a claim is insufficiently
pleaded if it offers only “labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of actionlgbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949. The Court further

explained:

Two working principles underlie our decision Twombly. First, the
tenet that a aort must accept as true all of the allegations contained in
a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions. Threadbare recitals
of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory
statements, do not suffice. . Rule 8 marks a notable and generous
departure from the hypéechnical, codeleading regime of a prior
era, but it does not unlock the doors of discovery for a plaintiff armed
with nothing more than conclusions. Second, only a complaint that
states a plasible claim for relief survives a motion to dismiss.
Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief
will, as the Court of Appeals observed, be a cordertific task that
requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial expeseand
common sense. But where the wakaded facts do not permit the
court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the
complaint has allegedbut it has not “show[n}—“that the pleader is
entitled to relief.”

Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 19490 (citation omitted).See als@&inaltrainal v. Coc&ola

Co, 578 F.3d 1252 (11th Cir. 2009) (“The mere possibility the defendaad act
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unlawfully is insufficient to survive a motion to dismiss” and “the vpdd

allegations must nudge the claim ‘across the line from conceivable to plausible

(quotinglgbal andTwombly)).

FACTS AS PLEADED IN THE COMPLAINT *

For the purposes of a motion to dismiss, the court must take as twelkhe
pleadedfacts according to the nonmoving party; in this case, tamtgf, Kesha
LaShawn Bogus (“Bogus!’)As discussed above, the court is not required to accept
legal conclusions masquerading as fadscordingly, the following are the
relevant facts:

Bogus is an AfricanrAmerican female employed by the City of
Birmingham, Alabama (“City”), as a police officemce 1996 (Complaint, { 8).
She currently holds the rank of sergeant, being promoted to that rank in 2015.
(Id.). Beginning in 2010, the plaintiff was assigned to Mayor William Bell's
security detail. (Complaint, § 20). Dring thesummer of 2014while she was
assigned to MayoBell's (“Bell”) security detajl her supervisotbecameSeageant

Herman Harris (“Harris”), whom she identifies as Bell's cousin and fellow

! It should be observed that the complaint was drafted and filed for the plaintiff by an
attorney, who has now withdrawn from representing her. This means, of course, thatdhe liber
reading of the complaint a court niugive apro se pleading does not apply. Following the
withdrawal of plaintiff's original counsel, the court unsuccessfully undertook to looktfar
counsel willing to represent the plaintiff. She nowpris se, which may implicate the reading of
anyfuture amended complaints that may be required.
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fraternity member. (Complaint, § 23poon thereafter, Harris began to pursue her
romantically, but sherebuffed his advances(Complaint, § 26). Because she
rejected his unwanted advances, Hakiown by Bell,denied her overtime duties
and compensation, despite assigning male emetoyevertime duties and
compensating those male employaesordingly (Complaint, 1 28).

During this same time period (late summer 2014), another city employee,
April Odom, began making romantic overtures to Deputy Chief William Tubbs
(Complaint, § 29), with whom the plaintiff already was romantically involved.
This led to a confrontation between Odom and the plaintiff outside a Logan’s
restaurant in Fultondal@ suburb north of Birmingham, in the presence of Deputy
Chief Tubbs, Mayor Bell, and other members of the mayoraff.st
(Complaint,30). As a result, Odom filed a “report” of the incident in September
2014, which led to an investigation of the plaintifid.. Rather than refer the
report to the Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”) of the police departmefautside
counsel” Matt Beanmwas retained to conduct an investigation of the incident.
(Complaint, § 31).In late September or early October 2014, thengfdheard that
Odom might drop her complaint against the plaintiff. Bogus contracted the City’s
Chief of OperationgJarvis Pattonjo request that the complaint not be dropped

beause she wanted a naitlearing hearing. (Complaint, 1 39).



As part d this investigation by Beam, the plaintiff reported to him that she
believed she was being subjected to discriminatory treatment by defendant Harris
because she had rebuffed his “sexually harassing overtures.” (Comp®)t, |
Specifically, she told Beam that she was being denied overtime assignments while
male employees (Jeffrey Wick and Eric Smith) were receiving overtime
assignments. (Complaint, 134). Likewise, on October 9, 2014, Bogus mailed a
letter to Harris her supervisorcomplaining that lse was being discriminatorily
denied overtime.

On October 13,2014, after concluding that Odomt®mplaintagainst the
plaintiff was unfoundedBeam dismissed {Complaint,  32) and attempted to
convince Bogus, Tubbs, and Odom to sign a release folipta complaint’s
dismissal. (Complaint, § 40). While Tubbs and Odoms signed a release, Bogus
refused. She vaguely asserts that she suffered retaliation in the monthaépllowi
her refusal to sign the releasgd.).

Bell became aware of Bogus's compls, both by and against her, in
October of 2014. On October 25, 2014, during a parade, Bogus claini®ethat
called the male members of his security detail into his vehicle aretl fais voice.

Bell then summoned Bogus into the vehicle and commefitethn't give a shit

about your personal relationship [with Tubbs]. | know about the eailsent



saying that you were the only female in the unitknow what that means.”
(Complaint, § 36).

Concurrent with the problems developing in her professional life, a tempest
soon began to develop in her personal life as wéllbbs proposednarriageto
Bogus on September 23, 2014, despite being mdrr@ed in October of 2014,
Bogus discovered that she was pregnant with Tubbs’ child. Bogus and Tubbs
enjoyed a nice Christmas holiday before their relationship spiraled out of control.
During the New Yeas holiday, Bogus entereflubbs's apartment and “madan ..
inappropriate gesture to inform Tubbs that she was upset at the thought that he
might have been seeing another woman and had abandoreftdi¢she became
pregnant.” (Complaint,  51). Bogus further confronted Tubbs in his office at the
police departmerdbout her fears on Jany&, 2015. (Complaint, § 52).

Tubbs filed a complaint against Bogus on January 2, 2015, which he later
withdrew. Upon the filing ofthe complaint, the City immediately placed Bogus on
administrative leave Apparently notwithstanding Tubbs’ itkdrawal of the
complaint the investigation continuedAs a result of the City’s investigation
Bogus “was substantially exonerated, but found to have engaged in conduct

unbecoming a police officer as a result of her having entered Tubbs’ apartment and

2 Tubbs admittedly was in the processlvorcing his wifeat the time of the engagement.
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having made the gesture of fear and concern aforementidn@binplaint,  56).

The plaintiff wassuspenddfor two daysremowed her from Mayor’s Bell security
detail, and compkdd her to attend counselirfg(Complaint, § 54).Upon kaving

the security detail,le was reassigned to the Community Resource Divigioth

was deprived of her badge and gdaring this period Her child was born on
July7, 2015, at which time she went on maternity leave pursuant to the Family
Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”)until October of 2@5.

Tubbs himselfalso was subsequently charged with misconduct by the
Internal Affairs Division (“IAD”) (hereinafter referred to as the “Tubbs
investigation”) and he took FMLA leave during the investigatioAlthoughthe
IAD concluded that Tubbs engaged in miscondietyas allowed “to retire on a
full pension” following the conclusion of his FMLA leave. (Doc. 1, § 5Mler

“supervisor’s attitudes toward hgvad] changed markedly®” (Doc. 1, § 71).

3 The “gesture of fear and concern” is not otherwise described in the complaint.

4 Although not entirely clear from the complaint, it appears the IAD invegiigavas
handled by Lt. David Grayson, or under his direction, as plaintiff alleges that it xegso@
who ordered her to attend counseling. (Complaint,  54). Grayson is ned mam defendant in
this action.

> It is not clear from the complaint when Tubbs learned of the investigation’s conglusion
when hetook FMLA leave, and when he officially retired. Additionally, the investigatias w
not formally closed until June of 2016.

6 Although the plaintiff alleges thahe was not restored to her posit@mBell's security
detail because of her complaints regarding Harris and her refusal to execute a netbase i
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After these eves, Bogus filed an Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission (“EEOC”) charge on March 31, 2015. She vaguely claimshkat
suffered retaliation in response to filing the charge arldtersupplemento it.

She alleges only that other member®efl’s staff and security detail engaged in
more egregioysunbecoming conducthan she but they were not subjected to
punishment or prolonged investigation. When comparedese timdividuals, she
claims that she was treated much worse by the @&, and Haris. Bogus
assertghat she would not have been subjected to discipline if she had not reported
what she had searhile serving on the mayor’s security defail

Bogus gave birth to Tulsts child on July 7, 2015, and she was placed on
maternity leave until October of 2015. She suffered from -padtim
complications and general depression, and she was required to attend counseling.
Following her return from maternity lee, the City promoted Bogus tergeanin
October 2015 Despite her promotiorBogus alleges that, at least initially, none of
the captains in charge of the City’s four police precincts wanted Bagierhis
command. She alleges “on information and belief” that thisheaauseshe had

engaged in aelationship with a white formesupervisor(Tubbs)and had given

Beam investigationshe admits that she does not know the reason she was not restored to the
security detail. (Complaint, § 72).

! It is not dear from thecomplaint when Bogus made the reports concerning misconduct
by Bell's staff or to whom she made the reports. She alleges onhhthdidgso “in accordance
with established procedure.” (Complaint, { 65).
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birth to abi-racial child. The City assigned her tthe West Precinct under the
command of Captain Paul Irwin (“Irwin”) in October of 2015. After her
assignnent to the West Precinct, Bogus repeatedly applied for a shift
accommodation to care fdrer young children. She alleges that she was not
granted an accommodatiofor longer than six weeks, althougleveral similarly
situated employees, male and femdlag receivedhift accommodations longer
than six weeksShe alleges impliedly that she was denied accommodation because
she:

(1) refused to release ti@ty of Birmingham from all liability for its

prior wrongful actions; (2) ... had... enged in an interacial

relationship; (3)... had.. given birth to a bracial baby; (4).. had..

been associated with the dismissal of a popular Deputy Chief:;. (5)

had.. been witness or privy to significant irregularities within Bell’s

office, and (6)... had.. been the subject of inappropriate gossip,

rumor or “scuttlebutt”.
(Complaint, § 88). Bogus alleges that Irwin ignored her accommodation requests
and “reports of racial unrest and other matters occurring within the West Precinct.”
(Doc. 1, 1 102). On November 18, 2015, Irwin suggested to Bogus thabkshe
back” her rank as sergearib“thatof officer in order that she might receive the

same treatment as other police officers smgervisors had traditionally receivéd.

(Complaint, § 97). Sheefusel to do so.
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Following these events, Bogus began to search for a new law enforcement
job within the area, but her search has proven fruitless.

Bogus ultimately filed a supplemetd her EEOC charge on January 19,
2016 She filed an additional compta with the City, alleging a hostile work
environment, and she was temporarily transferrethéoSouth Precinct for six
weeks while the investigation of her hostilgork environment complaint
proceeded Upon return tahe West Precincin May 2016 Bogws met with and
informed Chief of Police A.C. Roper (“Roper”) and Captain Theophilus Smith
(“Smith”) of her postpartum complications. Neither Ropeor Smith took her
concerns seriously. Irwin then, at some point, omitted Bogus from the supervisor’'s
emal list, which kept her “out of the official loop . . . [of] important information
regarding the daily operations of the West PrecifidiComplaint § 102). She did
not receive the information necessary to efficiently and effectively perfornolner |
which diminished “her stature as a supervisor in the West PrecirCainglaint
1109). Bogus has subsequently attempted to regain her standing with ldvin an

other officials within the City.

8 In particular, the plaintiff alleges that as a result of being omitted from the email

circulation, she was unaware of a dangerous, menlialipman known to other supervisors in
the West Precinct. Unaware that the woman was armed with a pistol, Bogus @shfrenton
more than one occasion” before the woman was finally hospitalized. Plaingfhdbeallege she
suffered any injury due to these confrontations. (Complaint, § 108).
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LEGAL CLAIMS ALLEGED

Based on these factual allegations, the plaintiff has identfighit counts
for relief. Count | alleges that plaintiff suffered racial discrimination in
employment in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Count Il
asserts that she suffered pregnancy discrimination in violation of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, including presumably (although not explicitly sijatke
Pregnancy Discrimination Act. Count Ill alleges that plaintiff suffered from a
racially and sexually discriminatory hostile work @owment, in violation of
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

Count IV of the complaint asserts that the plaintiff suffered employment
related “retaliation.” Although not as clearly stated as in the first ttoests, this
count also seems to rest on the -aetaliation provisions of Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964.In paragraph 129 of the count, for example, she alleges that
she “was repeatedly denied accommodations on account of hergeer,
personnel history and opposition to the Defendants’ discriminatory practices,”
which seems to invoke the prohibitions of Title VII. Furthermore, & rext
paragraph, she explicitly states that she veabjed to retaliation for having filed
a charge ofliscriminatiori with the EEOC, as well as a complaint for “a hostile
working environment claim against her superiovsth the Jefferson County

Personnel Board. Lastly, in paragraph 131, the plaintiff alleges that she was
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“denied accommodations” and subjected to “retaliation for her having raised
legitimate concerns regarding the discrimination agaivest...” The cout,
therefore, reads Count |V to allege discriminatory retaliation unider\il of the

Civil Rights Act?

Count V purports to allege claims for violation of the plaintiff's civil rights
under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983lIn particular, shdirst alleges that she was deprivetl
property without due process of law time form of “certain emoluments of her
employment.., a propertyinterest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution amdade actionable by 42 U.S.C. 881981 and 1983.
(Comphint, § 138). She focuses of the “Beam investigation” and “the IAD
investigation.” In the former, she alleges that she “was provided with no notice of
or report of any ‘hearinghor any conclusion of any investigation conddchs
Beam...,” in violation ofthe rules and regulations of the police department.
(Complaint, § 142). Likewise, in relation to the IAD investigation, she alleges that

“Harris and Bell provided Plaintiff with neotice of or report of any ‘hearingor

° Only in 1 128 is there a hint of a claim for retaliation not related to Title VII employme
discrimnation. There the plaintiff alleges in conclusory manner that she-edffarbitrary and
capricious decisioimaking by her superiors in retaliation” because “she was a witness or privy
to various instances of misconduct of elected or appointed publmals’” of the City.
Presumably, these are the instances of misconduct outlined in § 66 of the complaint. He
complaint, however, never identifies what “arbitrary and capricious decisi@rs the product

of retaliation, except for Mayor Bell's verbabuse during October 2014 and her removal from
the security detail in January 2015, both of which are-bareed by the twayear limitation
period applicable to § 1983 and § 1981 claims. All other allegations of retaliation in the
complaint seem to be based on her complaints of racial and sexual discrimination tieder Ti
VIL.
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any conclusion of any investigation conductedA ...,” in violation of the rules
and regulations of the police department. (Complaint, § 143).

Count V also assertan alleged denial of due procesath respect to a
liberty interest. In sum, the plaintiff alleges that unnamed city officials made
“improper and unauthorized disclosures,” which were “false and misleading,”
about the matters involved in the two investigations of her, and that these
disclosures caused the plaintiff to “suffer defamation of di&racter andshe]
was stgmatized, which resulted in damage to her reputation and to heofloss
future employment opportunitiés. (Complaint, f152). As a result of this
defamation and stigmatization, Bogus “was caused to suffer the deprivation of
liberty without due processf law in connection with the malicious damage to her
good name and reputation arttiereafter, in the terms and conditions of her
employment with the City of Birmingham....” (Complaint1%5). She alleges
that she was entitled to a “nasolearing hearingas a matter of due proce's.

Count VIl of the complairit appears to rest on 42 U.S.C. § 1981, in that the

plaintiff alleges that “[the actions of the Defendants subjected Plaintiff to

10 At § 146, the complaint also seems to allege a denial of equal protection becaise Harr
denied plaintiff the same opportunities to earn overtime pay afforded tomesdersof the
security detail. There is a separate count of the complaint alleging equadtiprotclaims
(Count VIII). In any event, because these events occurred prior to January 200 5hetvweas
removed from the security detail, any claim for denial afa¢grotection based on these facts is
time-barred, having occurred more than two years before the filing of the camplai

11 There is no Count VI. The complaint skips from Count V to Count VII.
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discrimination,harassment and retaliation because of her race, @drgender
within the meaning of42 U.S.C. 81981, and Defendants’ actions, therefore,
constitute unfair employmemiractices against Plaintiff, for which they are liable
in damages to her.” (Complaint, § 160). She asserts that she hasalasy,”
overtime and other benefits, has been denied employmgnbrtunities and
advancement, present and future,” and will continue to suffer emotional pain and
anguish.

Count VIII turnsto the theme of denial of equal protection actionable under
42 U.S.C. § 1983. She alleges that, as set out throughout the complaint, the
defendants, jointly and severallgubjectedher harassment, discrimination and
retaliation based upon her race, color, gender and other illegitimate factors,
resulting in loss of salary and benefits, loss of employment opportunities and
advancement, and mental and emotional pain, distress, and anguish.

Finally, Count IX of the complaint purports to allege a claim uddabama
law for intentional infliction of mental anguish and emotional distre$® dleges
specifically that Bell “verbally and vulgarly abused” her during the meeting in his
car at the October 2015 parade. Further, she asserts that Irwin, knowing the
physical and emotional difficulties she was having following the birth of her child,
refused to give her a shift accommodation for longer than six weeks and he

attempted to induce her to accept a reduction in rank. She also alleges that he
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failed to keepher informed or reports and memoranda undermining her
effectiveness as a sergeant and exposing her to atHigatening situation”
involving an armed woman with a mental illnedsastly, she alleges that Harris
sexually harassed her and, when rebuffddnied her valuable employment

opportunities to earn overtime p&y.

DISCUSSION
l. Shotgun Pleading
As an initial matterthe defendants argue that Bogus’s complaint constitutes

an impermissible shotgun pleading. 1In Weiland v. Palm Beach Sttegriff's

Office, 792 F.3d 1313, 13223 (11th Cir. 2015), the Eleventh Circuit recognized
that complaints violating either Federal Rules of Civil Proce@gag(2) or 10(b)
are “disparaginglyeferredto as ‘shotgun pleadings.” Shotgun pleadings falbi

four categories:

12 Because Bogus alleges specific actions by Bell, Irwin, and Harris, ysinsthing about

the City of Birmingham in this count, it appears that she is not attempting to allegdathis
against the City. This, of course, is consistent with Alabama l&nehwnakes a city liable only
for the negligent and careless acts of its employees, not for their intetitidsalSeeBrown v.
City of Huntsville, Ala, 608 F.3d 724, 743 (11th Cir. 2010)U] nder § 1+47-190[Code of
Ala.], a city is liable for negligent acts of its employees within the scope of their emgby
but not intentional torts of its employegs.see alsoVhite v. City of Birmingham, Alg 96
F. Supp. 3d 1260, 1296 (N.D.Ala. March 27, 2p15
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The most common typeby a long shet-is a complaint containing
multiple counts where each count adopts the allegations of all
preceding counts, causing each successive count toathtinat came
before and the last count to be antanation of the entire complaint.
The next mostommon type, at least as far as our published opinions
on the subject reflect, is a complaint that does not commit the mortal
sin of realleging all preceding counts but is guilty of the venial sin of
being replete with conclusory, vague, and immateriatsfanot
obviously connected to any particular cause of action. The third type
of shotgun pleadings one that commits the sin of not separating into
a different count each cause of action or claim for relief. Fourth, and
finally, there is the relatively ra sin of asserting multiple claims
against multiple defendants without specifying which of the
defendants are responsible for which acts or omissions, or which of
the defendants the claim is brought against.

Weiland 792 F.3d at 13223 (internal footntes omitted). Although the court
recognizes that Bogus’s complaint likely falls under the fourth category, the court
declines to hold that Bogus’'s complaint is an impermissible shotgun pleading.
Given the procedural context of the case, a dismissal der do file a more
definite statement under Rule 12(e) is inappropriate. While the complaint was
drafted by an attorney, Bogus is ngwo se. Ordering Bogus to redraft the

complaint would likely prove futile. Furthermore, the court believes that Bogus

hasallegedpotential claims, which indicates that it is not in the interests of justice
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to dismiss Bogus’s complainvholesale Therefore, the defendant’'s motion to
dismiss the complaint as an impermissible shotgun pleésiihge to be denietd

I. Birmingham Police Department (“BPD”) is not a Proper
Defendantunder any claim

The defendants argue that the BPD lathkes capacity to be suedAs a
general matter, “police departments are not usually considered legal entities subject

to suit.” Dean v.Barber 951 F.2d 1210, 1214 (11th Cir. 1992) (holding that police

departments are not legal entities subject to suit under 42 U.S.C. § 19833r
Feceral Rule of Civil Procedur&7(b)(3), capacity to be sued is determined by the
“law of the state where the court is located” for those parties who are not an
individual or corporation. Under Alabama law, “departments and subordinate
entities of municipalities, counties, and towns that are not separate legal entities or
bodies do not have the capacity tcesor be sued in the absence of specific
statutory authority. . . . Among subordinate entities generally lacking the capacity

to sue or be sued separately are police departments.Ex garte Dixon 55 So.

3d 1171, 1172 n.1 (Ala. 2010) (citing with approval 56 Am. JurMzahicipal

Corporationss 787 (2000). Therefore, BPD is not a proper defendant subject to

suit for any claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

13 In Section VII, the court will briefly identify the surviving claims that Beguay have.

Bogus may object to the court’'s characterization of her claims within fourtdgrdgys. If no
objections are filed, the court and the parties will proceed ocldivas identified in Section VII.
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Although a police department might qualify as an “employer” under Title

VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000et seq., seeDawson v. Henry CtyPolice Dep'’t 238 F

App’x 545 (11th Cir. 2007) andoung v. Town of Fallsburg Police DepT74 F.

Supp. 205, 20B (S.D.N.Y. 1991) (holding that police department is an employer
and proper defendant in absence of naming tha tas defendant), BPD is an
agency of the City, and the City will satisfy any potential judgment against BPD,
assumingarguendo that BPD is a proper employer. Yet, because Alabama law
does not recognizapolice department aslegal entiy subject to suit and because
the City has been named as a defendant in the atypleel, the City is the proper
employer under Title VIl and 42 U.S.C. § 19@hdconverselyBPD is not.

BPD therefore is not a proper defendant subject to suit under any of Bogus’s
claims and is due to be dismissed as a defendant from the stiytacaction.

[ll. Title VII Claims

A. Proper Defendants

As threshold mattefor each cause of actiamder Title VIl the court must
determine which defendants may propebg sued on which claim¥. The
defendants argue that the Title VII claims against Ha#dl, and Irwin in their

official and individual capacities should be dismissd8logus may prsue any

4 This analytical approach equally applies to the other statutory claimairszhtin the

various counts of Bogus’s complaint.
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claim for Title VII discrimination, hostile work environment, and retaliation
against only the City as a defendant.

Although Bogus names Bell, Harris, and Irwin as defendants, in both their
official and individual capacities, claims againststhendividuals under Title VII
are improper. “Individual capacity suits under Title VII are . . . inappropfidte.
relief granted under Title VIl is against tleenployer, not individual employees

whose actions would constitute a violation of the AcBusby v. City of Orlando

931 F.2d 764, 772 (11th Cir. 199F) Bogus asserts that the City is her employer,
meaning the claims against Bell, Harris, and Irwin in their individual capacities
under Title VIl aramproperandaredue to be dismissed.

Similarly, official capacity suits are “redundant and needlessly comftsin

Lewis v. Bentley, No. 2:16v-690-RDP, 2017 WL 432464t *3 (N.D. Ala. Feb.

1, 2017);seealsoBusby v. City of Orlandp931 F.2d 764, 776 (11th Cir. 1991)

(“Because suits against a municipal officer sued in his official capacity and direct

suits against municipalities are functionally equivalent, there no longer exists a

15 Of course, to the extent plaintiffs Count VII alleges that the individual defemdant
violated her rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 by interfering with her employment contfathevi
City of Birmingham for racially discriminatory reasons, they remaioper defendants on that
claim. SeeZaklama v. Mt. Sinai Med. Ctr., 842 F.2d 291, 293 (11th Cir. 198&ding non
employer defendant liable for discriminatory dismissal of plaintiff by his eneployder §
1981); Martinez v. Pavex Corp422 F. Supp. 2d 1284, 1291 (M.D. Fla. 200%) defendant
who is not a plaintiff's employer may thereforeliadle under 8 1981 for interference with the
plaintiff's contractual rights with third partiék.
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need to bring officiatapacity actions against local government officials, because
local government units can be sued directlyBlaintiff's direct Title VII action
against the City itself makes her claims against Bell, Harris, and Irwin in their
official capacities unnecessary. Because Bogus has brought Title VII claims
against the City, there is no need to have duplicative Title VII claims against Bell,
Harris, and Irwin in their official capacities

Accordingly, Counts I, II,11l, and IV, insofar as they are allegddtle VII
claimsagainst Bell, Harris, and Irwin individually or in their official capesst are
due to be dismissed.

B. Satute of Limitations

Because she filed her EEOC chaggjediscriminationon March 3, 2015
(seedoc. 31), Title VII claims based omny discriminatory, hostile, or retaliatory
actions by the City @t occurred prior to October 2, 2014, anee-barred because
suchactionswereoutsidethe 180daytime limit for thefiling of her EEOC charge.

Seed2 U.S.C. 8000e5(e)(1);Jordan v. City of Montgomer283 F. App’x 766,

767-68 (11th Cir. 2008¥° Sukject to equitable doctrines, such as tolling and

1 The defendants have not advanced any argument that the plaintiff's paralleymemio
discrimination claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 are fraged The statute of limitation for
asserting a 8 1981 claim in Alabama is two years after the plailiféts or reasonably should
know that the discriminatory act has occurred, the same point from which th&[Ti1l80-day
limitations period runs. SeeStafford v. Muscogee Cty. Bd. of Educ., 688 F.2d 1383, 1390
(11th Cir. 1982)quotingMcWilliams v. Escambia County School Board, 658 F.2d 326, 330 (5
Cir. 1981). Because none of the defendants has raised this issue, plaintiff's § 1981 dlaims wi
proceed against the City and the individual defendants ingéresonal capacities only.
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estoppel, Title VII requires an aggrieved employee to file a charge of
discrimination with the EEOC within 180 days after tHescrete event of

discrimination or retaliationSee National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Morgan

536 U.S. 101, 113, 122 S. Ct. 2061, 2072, 153 L. Ed. 2d 106 (2B66ait)ire to do
SO can be raised as an affirmative defense by the defendant em@egdoore

v. Alabama State Uniy945 F. Supp. 235, 240 (M.D. Ala. 1996plding that180

day time bar is a matter to be raised as an affirmative defénsédny
discriminaton, hostile work environment or retaliaton claim based on events
occurring after the filng of her EEOC charge on Marci,32015,had to be
included inher January 19, 2016, Supplement to her EEOC chaogmore than
180 days after the occurrence of #went unless such events were reasonably

related to the original 2015 charge. Thus, allegetliégrete discriminatory or

17 Although the time limits required by Title VII are in the nature of affirmative defgn

the court may consider any such defense that appears on the face of the corBplzanise the
instant matter is before the court on a motion to dismiss, the defendant Citgthaet filed an
answer in which to assert the affirmative defense. Nevertheless, time bansngppedhe face

of the complaint itself (without ference to any extrinsic materials) may be considered on a
Rule12(b)(6) motion. SeeQuiller v. Barclays Am./Credit, Inc727 F.2d 1067, 1069 (11th Cir.
1984), on reh'g, 764 F.2d 1400 (11th Cir. 1988 complaint may be dismissed under Rule
12(b)(6)when its own allegations indicate the existence of an affirmative defensegsasldme
defense clearly appears on the face of the complaitting Concordia v. Bendekovic, 693
F.2d 1073 (11th Cir.1982Mann v. Adams Realty Co., 556 F.2d 288, 298 (5th Cir.1977);

see generall$ C. Wright & A. Miller, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURES 1357 (1969).
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retaliatory actions by the City occurrirdter the filing of the March 2015 charge
butbeforeduly 23, 2015would be time barred as well.

Notably, inNational Railroad?assenger Corp. v. Morgas36 U.S. 101, 117

(2002), the Supreme Court held that

[a] hostile work environment claim is composed of a series of separate
acts that collectively constitute one “unlawful employment
practice.”42 U.S.C. § 2000é(e)(1)... It does not matter, for
purposes of the statute, that some of the component acts of the hostile
work environmenfall outside the statutory time perio@rovided that

an act contributing to the claim occurs within the filing period, the
entire time period of the hostile environment may be considered by a
court for the purposes of determining liability.

See alsoShelds v. Fort James Corp305 F.3d 1280, 1282 (11th Cir. 2002)

(quoting with approvalNationalRailroadPassenger Corps36 U.S. at 117))‘Put
simply, if the smallest portion of thghostile work environment}‘practice”
occurred within the limitations time period, then the court should consider it as a
whole.” Id. Therefore, any actions attributable to the hostile work envieorhim
may be considered as long as sgoaet of the action occurred during the time
limitations discussedbove.

As applied to the facts alleged in the complaint, theda80time limit cuts
off any claims arising from Harris’s romantic overtures to the plaintiff during the
summer of 2014. Insofar as these “overtures” by Harris created any sexually

harassing hostile work environment, the complaint alleges that it ended in
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September 2014, and thus was more than 180 days prior to the filing of the EEOC
charge of discriminationAccordingly, this particularTitle VII claim arising from
Harris’'s actiondell outside of the deadlines discussed heseid isbarred by te
180-day filing requirement of Title VII. This particular Title VII claimdue to be

dismissed.

IV. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Claims
A. Proper Defendants

The defendants argue that (1) the holding in Monell v. Depattaieogal

Senices of City of N.Y, 436 U.S. 658 (1978prevents any suitinder 8§ 1983

against the @y from proceedingand (2) that the official capacity suits against
Harris, Bell, and Irwin are redundant of the suit against the Citfherefore,
defendants assdttatthe § 1983 claims brought against the GibdHarris, Bell,
and Irwin in their official capacitieare due to be dismissed.

(1) The City as a § 1983 Defendant

Although Bogus may sue the Citlirectly under § 1983, the City cannot be
held vicariously liable for the actions of its employees under a theory of
respondeat superior. Monell, 436 U.S.at 690-91. In other words, the City may
not “be held liable unless action pursuant to official municipal policy of some

nature caused a constitutional tortld. at 691;see alsdSkop v. City of Altanta,
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Ga, 485 F.3d 1130, 1145 (11th Cir. 20070 estabsh § 1983 municipality

liability, Bogus must prove: “(1) that [her] constitutional rights were violated; (2)
that the municipality had a custom or policy that constituted deliberate indifference
to that constitutional right; and (3) that the policy or custom caused the violation.”

McDowell v. Brown 392 F.3d 1283, 1289 (11th Cir. 2004YIn order for a

plaintiff to demongtate a policy or custom, it is ‘generally necessary to show a
persistent and widspread practic€. Id. at 1290.

As discussed abey Bogudhas alleged three essential § 1983 claims: (1) that
she was denied procedural due process of law with respect to deprivation of
property interest in heemployment “benefits and emoluments,” (2) that she was
denied equal protection in the assignment of employment opportunities based on
her sex, and (3) that she was denied due process of law with réspeeation of
a liberty interest in her good name and reputationeach of these instancdke
plaintiff alleges that whatever action occurred took plaas part of and pursuant
to longstanding City practice and procedures. At least as alleged in the complaint,
the Beam and IAD investigations were authorized by and pursuant to City policy
and practice, and thus were the actions of the City. The City cheldhdable for
violations of the plaintiff's constitutional rights (if any) that occurred during @ as
result of these authorized and officiikciplinary investigations. Likewise, the

plaintiff alleges that the assignment of overtime opportunities was delegated by the
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City to the plaintiff's supervisor (Harris); the City authorized the supervisor to
assign such overtime opportunities as the plaintiff complains she was denied in
violation of equal protection. Hence, the assignment of overtime opportunities was
pursuant to City policy, practice, or custom for purposes of potential § 1983
liability.

Even though the complaint alleges due procesdsegual protection claims
for which the City might be a proper defendant, the court will @xgdalow that
these claims are all tiearred. The City’s failure to provide appropriate due
process hearings and to not discriminate in the assignment ofnme+egrning
opportunities all were fully accrued well more than two years prior to the fifing o
this complaint. For this reason, the due process and equal protection claims against

the City under 8 1983 are due to be dismissed.

(2) Official Capacity Claims against Harris, Bell, and Irwin
Bogus may not proceed against HariBgll, or Irwin in their official
capacities under 8§ 1983An official capacity suitunder 8§ 1983 “is considered a

suit against the local government entity he representgicElroy v. City of

Birmingham, Ala, 903 F. Supp. 2d 1228, 1242 (N.D. Ala. 2012s the Supreme

Court explained inKentucky v. Graham “Official-capacity suits... generally

represent only another way of pleading an action against an entity of which an

officer is an agent.” As long as the government entity receives notice and an
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opportunity to respond, an officiahpacity suit is, in all respects other than name,

to be treated as a suit against the efititgentucky v. Graham473 U.S. 159, 165

66, 105 S. Ct. @99, 3105, 87 L. Ed. 2d 114 (198%juotingMonell v. New York

City Dept. of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658, 690, n. 55, €3.2018, 235, n. 55,

56 L.Ed.2d 611 1978)kee als®usbyv. City of Orlandg 931 F.2d764,776 (11"

Cir. 1991). Therefore,“[w]hen suit is also filed against the local government
entity, the court should dismiss the individual defendant in [their] official
capacity[ies] as ‘redundant and possibly confusing to the julg.” Furthermore,
because official capacity suits arensidered another way of suing the local
government entity, official capacity suits necessarily, fajl implication whena
suit against the local government entity has been foreclgsead Seeid. Thus,
because the City is a named defendant in thi®rgcany clains under 8 1983
against HarrisBell, or Irwin in their official capacities are due to be dismisaed
redundant of the claims against the Ci#s a result, Bogus may proceed against
Harris,Bell, and Irwinunder § 1983®nly in theirindividual capacities.
B. Claim of Deprivation of Property Without Due Process
Bogus appears to identify two instanaesvhich she was deniegrocedural

due processf law by the defendantwith respect to a claimed property inter€'st

18 Because the plaintiff complains about the deprivation of a property interest in her

employment, the court understands this claim to allege a denmbcddural due process of
law, not substantive due process.
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First, sheasserts that she was denied due process during the Beam investigation in
September and October of 2014. Second, she claims that she was denied due
process during th&AD investigation in January of 2015The City, Harris, Bell,
and Irwinargue that eacbf these claimss time-barred.

Because§ 1983 claims are tort actions, the statute of limitationsdich

claims is borrowed from the state where the claim is brouBbtyvell v. Thomas

643 F.3d 1300, 1303 (11th Cir. 2011). Bogus brought this actiglabama,
which has a twgyearresidualstatute of limitatios for tort claims, which has been

construed to apply to § 1983 claims. Ala. Codé-Z&38(l); see alsaJones v.

Preuit & Maudlin, 876 F.2d 1480, 1483 (11th Cir. 198J3herefore, a tweyear

statute of limitations applies to any claim under § 1983. Importantly, though,
federal standards determine when 8§ 1983 claims accrue, and a claim under § 1983
“accrue[s] when the plaintiff knows or has reason to know of the injury which is

the basis of th action.” Corn v. City of Lauderdale Lakes, 904 F.2d 585, 588

(11th Cir. 1990).
The procedural due process clansing out of the 2014 Beam investigation

is timebarred® Because Beam concluded his investigation of the Odom

v It should also be noted that plaintiff suffered no deprivation of a property interest in the
Beam investigation. The plaintiff acknowledges that Beam exonerated heregjithct to the
Odom complaint. She did not suffer any loss of pay or benefits or suffer a disciplinary
punishment as a result the investigation. To the extent the plaintiff complains she was denied
a “name clearing” hearing as a form of deprivation difbarty interest, that will be discussed
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complaint in October of 2014, any potential liability fonet2014 Beam
investigation accrued at that time, meaning the statute of limitations woudd ha
started to run and thesxpired at the latest in October of 2016. Bogus had notice
of any wrongdoing in the investigation process and the subsequent conclusion of
the investigation when Beam requested Bogus to sign a release on or around
October 13, 2014.She cannot now ground a claim under § 1983 on conduct
occurring more than two years prior to the filing of the complaint in this action.

The same is truef the IAD investigation that began in January 2015.
Although it is not clear from the recdfdwhen Bogus received notice of the
conclusion of the IAD investigation of her, it is clear that she suffered the
deprivations of property in January 2018pon Tubbs filing a complaint against
her on January 2, 2015, she walaced on administrative leavenmediately
removed from Mayor Bell's security detadnd received a twday suspension at
that time. While it may be unclear from the record when Bogus learned that IAD
had concluded its investigation of her, she acknowledges that she knew of the
proceedingsno later thanMarch 2015, when she filed her EECcharge of
discrimination. Because she waited until May 2017 to commence her action, the

two-year limitationfor § 1983 actions had expired with respect to any property

below. Thus, even if not timearred, her procedural due process claim relatettddBeam
investigation of the Odom complaint is meritless on the face of the complaint itself

20 Notably, the defendants failed to argue that Bogus did not state a plausibieasl

required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).
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interest deprivation arising from her twday suspension and reassignment in
January2015. This due process claim also is due to be dismissed.
C. Claimfor Deprivation of a Liberty Interest Without Due Process

In connection with both the Beam and the IAD investigations, thetibiain
asserts that she was denied a “nahearing” hearing thus depriving her of a
liberty interest in her good name and reputation without due process Of lov.
the reasons explained above, these claims also arebéimed by the twyear
limitation period applicable to § 1983 claims. Plaintiff admitst tihe Beam
investigation, in which she wasxonerated, was completed in October 2014.
Further, in the complaint, she pleaded that she became the subject of an IAD
investigation in January 2015, although she alser#s that shevasnever given a
Form466, upon which she could appeal the findings of the IAD investigation.

As set out in the complaint, the essence of her claim to a-okmaeng
hearingis that Tubbs, “while servinq the capacity of Deputy Chief of Police,
[made] disparaging statements to individuals within the police department
regarding the Plaintiff and [that Plaintifiyas found to have engaged in conduct
unbecoming an officer as a result thereof.” (Compl., Doc. 1, 1 149). She alleges

that she discovered the fact of these disparaging remarks only when she obtained

** As noted earlier, she allegdsat Beam exonerated her with respect to the Odom complaint
against her. Even assuming she was entitled to and deprived of eleanm®y hearing, she
suffered no loss of a liberty interest because she was exonerated. The exoaecatnplished

the sam, if not more, than a nanwéearing hearing could accomplish. She suffered no loss of
reputation or good name. This claim is meritless on its face.
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her EEOC notice of right to sue in February 2017. She asserts that she “was not
notified of Tubbs’ disparagement until long after the City became aware of it, and

was not accorded the nardearing hearing she had requested....” Further, she
alleges that “the gossip and rumors that had been permitted by City officials, and
proliferated overtly and by their silence and secrecy, were caused to fester and
further damage the Plaintiffs good name and reputation.” As a result, the
complaintassertghat “Plaintiff was caused to suffer defamation of her character
and was stigmatized, which resulted in damage to her reputation and to her loss of
future employment opportunities.”(Compl., Doc. 1, 1152). She alleges that the
four captains in charge of the four police precincts were given “selective
disclosures” of information developed during the Beam and IAD investigations,
causing her to suffer “malicious damage to her good name and reptiasiovell
as “unwarranted difficulty in finding new employment and lost future job
responsibilities....” Compl., Doc. 1, 11 1356)%*

The plaintiff's allegations that she did not know about Tubbs’ disparaging
statements about her until February of 2017 idaomable on the basis of the facts

alleged by her in the complaint. She admits that she knew Tubbs filed a complaint

against her in January 2015, and that this resulted in her being placed on

2 While the court doubts these allegations state a plausible claim for denial eflynalc
due process in the form of a naciearing hearing, the defendants have not moved to dismiss
the claim for failure to state a claim under Rule 12(b)(6). Their only argusémat it is time
barred.
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administrative leav@ending thecompletion of thenvestigatia, receiving a twe

day suspension, being removed from Mayor Bell's securitnildedand being
ordered to undergo counseling. As mentioned above, she was aware of these facts
no later than March 2015, when she filed her EEOC charge of discrimina8amn. (
EEOC Charge, Ex.1 to Compl., doelB Her claim to a namelearing hearing, if

she was entitled to one, fully accrued and was known to her well more than two
years prior to filing of this action. A due process claim based on this allegation
that Tubbgnade disparaging statemergsiow timebarred.

Turning to the allegation that City officials allowed and even engaged in
gossip and rumemongering about the investigations of the plaintiff,
the defendantgontend that the City cannot be liable because there is no allegation
that such gossip and rumor mongering were the product of City policyicpramr
custom. Also, they assert that the individual defendants, Bell, Irwin, and Hatrris,
are entitled to qualified immunity on this claimTo the extent they rely on the
time-bar argument, the plaintiff alleges these disclosures occurred when she
returned from maternity leave in October 2015, which is less than two years before
the filing of suit in May 2017 and so, to the extent she would be entitledadma
clearinghearing, the claim is not tintearred.

The court agrees that the complaint has not alleged a factual basis for

asserting that gossip and rummongering allowed and engaged in by City
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officials was official policy, practice, or custom of the City for msges of

extending liability to the City unddvionell v. Dep’t of Social Servicegl36 U.S.

658 (1978). Indeed, the complaint repeatedly alleges that such gossip and rumor
mongering wagontrary to stated police department and City policy. In order for
the City to be liable for failing to supply a natlearing hearing, it must be an
official act of the City that creates the stigmatization the plaintiff complains
about?® The City is no responsible for therivate actsof gossiping and rumor
mongering amongs employees unless those acts are the direct product of official
government policy or practice, and that simply is not alleged here. Thus, the City
had no duty to provide a narskearing hearing as alleged in thisie process
claim.

As to the individual defendants, Bell, Irwin, and Hartig complaintses
out no factual allegations whatsoever that they allowed or engaged in such
gossiping and rumemongering. She does nadllege that “selective disclosures”
were made by any of thesadividual defendants.From the complainthere is no

reason to believe that either Mayor Bell or Sergeant Harris had access to the

2 SeeBuxton v. City of Plant City, Fla., 871 F.2d 1037, 1642 (11th Cir. 1989fholding
that the elements of a due process claim for deprivation of a liberty interggod name and
reputation are “(1) a false statement (2) of a stigmatizing néByratending a governmental
employee’s discharge (4) made publig) by the governmental employer (6) without a
meaningful opportunity for employee name clearing.” (italics added and ihtlEromotes
omitted)), citingBoard of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 573, 92tS2701, 2707, 33 L.Ed.2d
548 (1972).
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investigative materials and files, and, while she alleges that Captain Irwin became
aware of the investigative matters, she does not allege that he made any
disparaging disclosureaamself He was the recegr of the information, not the
disseminatoof it. Moreover, even if these individual defendants were wrein
making “selective disclosures” about her, they personally had no constitutional
duty to provide her with any type ofameclearingdue process hearingSuch
would be the responsibility of the governmental employer, tm®tplaintiff's co-
employees.Thus, the complaint fails utterly to allege any factual basis whatsoever
for asserting this due process claim against these individual datsnda

Additionally, the individual defendants assert that they are entitled to
gualified immunity on this claim.The court agrees. Qualified immunity requires
Harris, Bell, and Irwin to firsestablishthat they were performing discretionary

functions. Holloman ex rel. Holloman v. Harlan870 F.3d 1252, 1264 (11th Cir.

2004). A discretionary function is one that“of a type that [falls] within the
employee’s job responsibilities.” Id. at 1265. To determine whether the
defendants were engaged in a discretionary function, Harris, Bell, and Irwin must
have performed “a legitimate jatelated function (that is,yssuing a jobrelated
goal)” and must have performed that function “through means that were within
[their] power to utilize[,]"i.e., in an authorized mannerld. at 126566. To

determine whether a defendant was “engaged in legitimate a job relatadrfyinct
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the court does “not ask whether it was within the defendant’s authority to suspend
an employee for an improper reasonst@ad,[the court asks]whether [the
defendant's] discretionary duties included the administration of discipliide &t
1266 (internal citation and quotation marks omittethach government employee
Is given only a certain ‘arsenal’ of powers with which to accomplishgbals.”
Id. at 1267.

Assuming that the plaintiff has alleged sufficiently that the Bell, Harris, and
Irwin allowed or engaged in gossiping about her, or that they madectigele
disclosures” about the investigations of her, she rmoostedethat theyacted
within their dutiesand functionsas City officials. If they did not, if thegcted
only in a purely private capacity, they cannot be sued under § 1983 because they
would nothave actedunder color of state law.” Thus, in order to attempt to state
a claim against them, the plaintiff must concede that they acted within the
discretionary functions of their positions with the City. Harris, Bell, and Irwin
undoubtedly exercised discretion in deciding, as supervisors, how to enforce the
City’s policy of prohibiting the prolifeation of gossip. Eveif Harris, Bell, and
Irwin may have potentially exercised their discretion “in arcamstitutional
manner[,]” that exercise “does not change the fact that [they were] fulfilling a

legitimate jobrelated function.”Holloman 370 F.8l at 1267.
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After it is determined that the individual defendants acted within their
discretionary functions, thierst question the court must addresselation to the
assertion ofqualified immunity is whether the actions of the defendastalleged

by the plaintiffviolateda constitutional right.SeeMullenix v. Lung U.S. :

136 S. Ct. 305, 3134, 193 L. Ed. 2d 255 (201H)Vhen addressing the defense of

qualified immunity,“[f] irst, the court considers whether the officefact violated

a constitutional right) (Sotomayor, J., dissentingieating v. City of Miamj 598
F.3d 753, 762 (11th Cir. 201Q)The court must determine ‘whether [the]
plaintiff’ s allegations, if true, establish a constitutional violatio(quoting Hope
v. Pelzer 536 U.S. 730, 736, 122 St. 2508, 153 L.Ed. 2d 666 (2002).
Qualified immunity has two elements: first, whether a constitutiomgdlt was
violated and, second, whether theonstitutional right violated was “clearly
established Although holding thathereis no rigid sequence in which these two

Issues must be addressed, the Supreme Court in Pearson v. Qalinated:

First, a court must decide whether the facts that a plaintiff has alleged
(see Fed. Rules Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6), (c)) or shown (see Rules 50, 56)
make out a violation of a constitutional rigibecond, if the plaintiff

has satisfied this first step, the court must decide whether the right at
issue was “clearly established” at the time of dé&amn's alleged
misconduct.

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232, 129 S. Ct. 808181572 L. Ed. 2d 565

(2009) (citing Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 121@3. 2151, 150 LEd. 2d 272
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(2001) overruled in part byearson v. Callaharb55 U.S. 223 (2009)).Thus,

inherent in the analysis of qualified immunity is the assessment of whether a
constitutional right has been violated.
Bogus has not plausibly demonstrated that Harris, Bell, or Irwin violated a

constitutional right because there was not a right to violgeeCannon v. City of

West Palm Beagh?50 F.3d 1299, 1303 (11th Cir. 2001). Stigmatization by the

government, standing alone, does not violate of the Fourteenth Amendment Due

Process Clause. Paul v. Daw®4 U.S. 693, 694 (1976). Undeaul Bogus

must claim stigmatization “plus’ the violation of some more tangible interest
before the plaintiff is entitled to invoke the procedural ptodes of the Due
Process Clause.”Cannon 250 F.3d at 1302. The Eleventh Circuit requires
“discharge @ more’ . . . in order to satisfy the ‘plus’ element of the stigres
test. A transfer or a missed promotion is not enoudgh.at 1303.

Here, Bogus has failed to establish a “loss of income or rank” or “discharge
or more” in order satisfy the stigaplus test. See Cannon 250 F.3d at 1303.
Irwin’s denial of a shift accommodatiand Harris’'s denial of overtime wodad

Bell's decision to reassign Bogus dot rise to the level od “discharge or more.”

Bogus has not plausibly demonstrated howsslifeered a loss of inconfé&;in fact,

24 Although Bogus vaguely alleges that she “lost salary” in her complstirtdoes not

sufficiently allege that her income rate was lowered by the CiBeedoc. 1, 1Y 121.e., 161,
167). She hasot pleadedacts setting forth her income level at various poihusng her tenure
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Bogus acknowledgethat she ultimately received a promotion ttee rank of
sergeant in October of 2015. Because Bogus cannot point to the existence of a due
process right in this situation, Harris, Bell, and Irwin éaot violated her due
process rightdo a nameclearing hearing Moreover, such a right to a name
clearing hearing in these circumstances (where the plaintiff sufferedsofloank
or income) was not clearly established under the second element ldedua
immunity. Therefore, Harris, Bell, and Irwin in their individual capacities are
entitled to qualified immunity, andhé stigmatization claim under1®83 is due to
be dismissed.
D. Claimfor Denial of Equal Protection

Finally, the plaintiff appears to attempt to equal protection claims in two
places in the complaint. First, slafleges as part of Count,\seeking relief
pursuant to 8983,that Harris violated her equal protection rights by denying her
opportunities to earn overtime competima that were made available to male
members of Mayor Bell's security detail.Second, in a completely separate

CountVIll, she alleges in very general and conclusory terms that, as a public

with the Citythat would reveal any loss of income. Bogus has not alleged that the reassignment
from Bell's security detail to an administrative position actually resulted imetiection of her

pay rate Furthermore, bing deprived of the opportunity to earn overtime compensation is not
the same as suffering a loss of income; no employee has a guaranteed rightdeedgane
compensation. FinallyBogus received a promotion to sergeant in October of 2015, which
presumably included @&aise in salary (Seedoc. 1, {1 172, where Bogus alleges that Irwin
“attempted to induce [Bogus] to accept a reduction in . . . rank and salary” for the poopositi
that the promotion came with a ag} increase). Bogus does not sufficiently allege that her
salary was reduced at any point during her assignment to the West Precinct.
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employee of the City, “Defendants subjected [her] to harassmisatimination

and retaliation based upon her race, color, gender and other illegitimate factors
hereinabove set forth.” (Compl., doc 1, § 164). The defendants’ motion raise tw
arguments: one, that Count VIII is too vague to answer and, two, thatah#mgy
events referenced in the count occurred more than two years prior to the filing of
the complaint and are tirtgarred.

The court agrees that many potential claims for denial of equal protection
based on race, color, and gender are-timeed. Asalready discussed above, the
statute of limitation for pleading claims under § 1983 for violation of constitutional
rights istwo years. As the complaint was filed on May 19, 2017, any event
involving a denial of equal protection occurring prior to May 2015, is time
barred by the statute of limitation. For examfdegus was removed froBell’s
security detail in January of 2015 (which sy implication was the last month
Harris could have denied Bogus the opportunity to earn overtime compensation),
so that potential liability for the denial of opportunities to neavertime
compensationwas fully accruedno later than thenLikewise, any 8§ 1983 claims
basedon events described in Bogus’s March 2015 EEOC chargea® time
barred, as she necessarily was aware (or should have been aware) of such claims at
that time, but did not file her complaint until more than two years |diee. statute

of limitations has expired on any equal protection clainthat accrued before
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May 19, 2015 Therefore,any equal protection claim accrued before May 19,
2015, is hereby dismissed @sie barred Those not fully accrued until May 19,

2015, or later remain pending.

V. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 198 Claim of Race Discrimination in Contract
For the same reasons discussed more fully in SetYioh, above,the
official capacity suits brought against HarrBell, and Irwin are due to be

dismissed because the City has been named as a defeSgaMcEIlroy, 903 F.

Supp. 2d at 1242. It would be redundant to allow the official capacity suits to
proceed andvas potentially cause confusionThe 8§ 1981 claims againthem,

however, remain pendingSeeZaklama v. Mt. Sinai Med. Ctr842 F.2d 291, 293

(11th Cir. 1988) (holding neemployer defendant liable for discriminatory

dismissal of plaintiff by his employer under § 198¥grtinez v. Pavex Corp422

F. Supp. @ 1284, 1291 (M.D. Fla. 2006) (“A defendant who is not a plaintiff's
employer may therefore be liable under § 1981 for interference with the plaintiff's

contractual rights with third parties.”).

VI. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress Claim
Bogus appears to identify several incideghts she allegesaused her severe

emotional distress, for which she seeks a remedy under Alabamglawarris’s
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unwanted romantiadvances towards her; (Bell's profaneverbal abuse during
the October 201parade; (3Bell’'s decision to suspend and then transfer her from
his security detail; (4) irregularities in the 2014 Beam investigation and 2015
Tubbsinvestigation that k& to her stigmatization; (5) Irwin’s denial of a shift
accommodation, his decisido exclude her from the supervisor’'s email list and
circulated reports, and his attentptinduceherto accept a reduction in rank and
salary. The defendants argue that these incidents do not constitute extreme and
outrageous conduct.

To recover forintentional infliction of emotional distress, which is also
known as the tort of outrage, Bogus must proveattthe defendant’'s conduct
(1) was intentional or reckless; (2) was extreme and outrageous; and (3) caused
emotional distress so severe that no reasonable person could be expenthde

it.” Green Tree Acceptance, Inc. v. Standridgfgb So. 2d 38, 44 (Ala. 199Gee

alsoBuckentin v. SunTrust Mortg. Cor®28 F. Supp. 2d 1273, 1287 (N.D. Ala.

2013). The defendants’ conduct “must be so extreme in degree as to go beyond all
possible bounds of decency and be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in
a civilized society.” Id. Bogus cannot recover for “mere insults, indignities,

threats, or annoyances, petty oppressions, or other itresdl American Road

Service Co. v. Inmon, 394 So. 2d 361, &H(Ala. 1980). Typicdy, the tort of

outrage carbe supportedanly in three circumstances: (1) wrongful conduct in
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the family-burial context . . .; (2) barbaric methods employed to eoenc
insurance settlement . . .; and (3) egregious sexual harassment._. . .” Wilson v.

Univ. of Ala. Health Services Found., P.C. So. 3d _, 2017 WL 6397654, at *3

(Ala. Dec. 15, 2017). However, the tort of outrage is not limited to just those three

categories.ld. In O’'Rear v. B.H, 69 So. 3d 106 (Ala. 20113brogated on other

grounds by Ex parte Vanderwall, 201 S@&d 525 (Ala. 2015), the Alabama

Supreme Court extended the tort of outrage to encompass a family physician’s
conduct of prescribing addictive medications to a boy, who subsequently became
addicted, in exchange for sexual favors when the boy was struggtinthe stress
of his parents’ divorce.

Here, Bogus has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a plausibleticktim
the defendants engaged in extreme and outrageous condather the gssip
Bogus endured ndhe alleged irregularitiesn the investigationsise to the harm
caused by the conduct identified in the three categari&gilson or in O’'Rear.
Additionally, reitherBell's verbal lashing during the October 2014 panaoiehis
decision to suspend and transfer Bogusufficiently extreme and outrageous that
no person could be expected to endurd\thile Harriss actionsmayappear tde
sexual harassment, they cannot be said td'dgeegious sexual harassment.”
Wilson, 2017 WL 6397654, at *3.Bogus has not pissibly alleged how Harris’s

unwanted romantic advances rose to the level of “egregious sexual harassment.”
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Id. She does not explain in detail the substance of those advances to allow the
court to determine whether the conduct was egregious, risingeteelahlarassment
that would be “atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized soCieBfreen Tree
Acceptance 565 So. 2d at 44and, thus, has failed to allege facts showing
entitlement to relief. Accordingly, because Bogus has failedlegeextrene and
outrageous conduct, her intentional infliction of emotional distress claim is due to
be dismissed.

VII. Remaining PendingClaims

With the limitations ofSections Il through VI in mind and based on a
reading of her complaint in a light favorablyttee plaintiff, the following claims
survive the pending motion to dismissd remain pendingpr resolution in this
action®

(1) Claims asserted under Title Vllaams againstthe City only, based on
the following allegations

a. Bell's and/or Harris’s decision to deny the plaintiff the opportunity to
earn overtime compensation.

b. Bell's and/or Harris’s decision to transfer the plaintifbm the
Mayor’'s security detail either because of her interracial relationship
with Deputy Chief Tubbs or due to heegnancy.

c. Bell's and/or Harris’s creation of a sexually hostile work environment.

2 The court’s identification of the claimsllegedin Bogus’s complaint should not be read

to conclude thathe courtholdsthat Bogus has plausibly alleged each claim in a sufficient
manner. The defendants have naivedfor relief under Rule 12(b)(6) for the claims identified
in this section.
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. Bell’'s and/or Harris’s retaliation against the plaintifécause she

complaired during the Beam investigation th#drris madeunwanted
romantic advances to her

Harris’s retéiation for plaintiff's complaint to him that she was being
discriminatorily denied the opportunity to earn overtime.

Irwin’s decision to deny Bogus a shift accommodation duéeo
prior interracial relationship with Tubkend the birth of her kiacial
child.

Irwin’'s harassment and creation o& racially hostile work
environment because of Bogus’s race and pntarracialrelationship
with Tubbs.

Irwin’s creation ofa racially and sexually hostile work environment in
retaliation for plaintiff havingprevioudy filedan EEOC charge

(2) Claims unded2 U.S.C. § 198®roughtagainst Irwin in his individual
capacitybased on

a.

b.

Irwin’s retaliationagainst Bogusn violation of the First Amendment

for reportingmisconduct that she observeccurring within the City
Irwin’s decision to grant accommodations to other employees but not
to Bogus in violation of the Fourteenth Ameneimh Equal Protection
Clause.

Irwin’s decision to exclude Bogud) from receiving reports an()

from the supervisor’'s email listyhile includingall other supervisors

in violation of the Fourteenth Amement Equal Protection Clause.

(3) Claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 of race discrimination in contract
broughtagainst the City, and HarriBell, and Irwin in their individual capacities.

CONCLUSION

The defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, MotmnMore

Definite Statement ISRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.The Motion

to Dismiss is GRANTED in so far as the followingiota are DISMISSEDNVITH

PREJUDICE
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- Any claim broughtagainst Birmingham Police Department as an entity
apart from the City

- Any individual and official capacity claisbroughtagainst HarrisBell,
and Irwin under Title VII.

- Any discreteTitle VII claim accruing before September 22,120 and
between March 31, 201&ndJuly 23, 2015.

- Any claim under 42 U.S.C. § 198%ought againsHarris, Bell, and
[rwin in their official capacities.

- Any claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983brought against the
City or Harris, Bell, and Irwin in their individual capacities for due
process violations stemming from the 2014 Beam investigaten2015
IAD investigation, and the denial of opportunities to earn overtime
compensationvhile on the Mayor’s security chat.

- Any claim of stigmatization in violation of the Due Process Clause as
enforced by 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and brougbainstthe City andHarris,
Bell, and Irwinin their individual capacities, stemming from the 2014
Beam investigation, the 2015 I|Alhvestigation, and the denial of
opportunities to earn overtime compensation while on the Mayor’'s
security detail.

- Any claim under 42 U.S.G8 1983broughtagainstthe City orHarris,
Bell, and Irwin in their individual capacities foequal protection
violationsoccurring before May 19, 2015.

- Any official capacity claimroughtagainst HarrisBell, and Irwin under
42 U.S.C. § 1981.

- Any state law claim of intentional infliction of emotional distressught
against any of the defendants individually oltesziively.

The Motion to Dismiss is DENIED in so far as the clasescribedn Section VI
remain pending. Finally, the Motion for More Definite Statement is DENIED.
Bogus has fourteen (14) days from the entry of this order to file any objection to
the court’s characterization of the claims that remain pendn§ection VI|

including claims that she believes were not includedoverlooked If no

objections are filed, the court and the parties will proceed on the claims identified
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in Section VIl,and the defendasshall file answers to the remaining claims in the
complaint.

DONE this 11" day of April, 2018.

NS—

T. MICHAEL PUTNAM
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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